THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-10-0846
Case No. 2018-CP-10-2131
Case No. 2018-CP-10-2539
Appellate Case No. 2019-000903

RECEIVED
FEB 19 2021
SC Court of Appeals

City of Charleston, Appellant,

v.

City of North Charleston and Millbrook Plantation LLC, Respondents.

AND

Millbrook Plantation, LLC, Plaintiff,

v.

City of Charleston Defendant.

AND

City of Charleston Plaintiff,

v.

City of North Charleston and Millbrook Plantation, LLC, Defendants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT CITY OF CHARLESTON

Susan J. Herdina (S.C. Bar No. 13165)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN CONCLUDING THAT THE SUPREME COURT OF SOUTH CAROLINA HAS DECLINED TO ADOPT THE PRIOR JURISDICTION DOCTRINE?
2. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING CHARLESTON'S CLAIMS DESPITE CHARLESTON'S STANDING TO ASSERT THAT THE PRIOR JURISDICTION DOCTRINE APPLIES?
3. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DETERMINING, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT A PARTY ALLEGING AN INFRINGEMENT OF THE PARTY'S PROPRIETARY INTERESTS AND STATUTORY RIGHTS DOES NOT HAVE STANDING TO CHALLENGE A 100% ANNEXATION?
4. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN LIMITING STANDING TO CHALLENGE A 100% ANNEXATION TO THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA, AS A MATTER OF LAW?
5. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING CHARLESTON'S CLAIMS DESPITE CHARLESTON'S ASSERTIONS THAT NORTH CHARLESTON'S ORDINANCES INFRINGED UPON CHARLESTON'S PROPRIETARY INTERESTS AND STATUTORY RIGHTS?
6. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN INTERPRETING NORTH CHARLESTON'S 2017 ORDINANCE TO ANNEX ONLY PROPERTY OUTSIDE CHARLESTON'S MUNICIPAL LIMITS?
7. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN CONTRUING THE ALLEGATIONS IN CHARLESTON'S COMPLAINTS AGAINST CHARLESTON TO CONCLUDE THAT NORTH CHARLESTON'S 2017 ORDINANCE ANNEXED ONLY PROPERTY OUTSIDE CHARLESTON'S MUNICIPAL LIMITS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from three consolidated actions challenging cross-annexations by Appellant City of Charleston (“Charleston”) and Respondent City of North Charleston (“North Charleston”) of certain real property (the “Millbrook Parcel”) owned by Respondent Millbrook Plantation, LLC (“Millbrook”).¹

On February 15, 2018, Charleston filed a notice of intent in Millbrook I to contest North Charleston’s ordinance purportedly annexing the Millbrook Parcel (the “2017 Ordinance”). (R. pp. 40-41). The following day, Charleston served and filed the notice of intent with North Charleston’s Clerk of Council. (R. pp. 40-41, p. 46, ¶ 17).

On March 27, 2018, Charleston filed the summons and complaint in Millbrook I, asserting that the 2017 Ordinance was invalid because (1) the 2017 Ordinance illegally included property annexed by Charleston in 2005; and (2) Charleston took the first step to annex the remainder of the property before North Charleston, entitling Charleston to proceed with its annexation without interference from North Charleston. (R. pp. 45-47, ¶¶ 5, 16, 19).

On April 24, 2018, Millbrook filed a notice of intent, summons, and complaint in Millbrook II challenging Charleston’s ordinance (the “Charleston Ordinance”) annexing the balance of the Millbrook Parcel, a portion of which had already been annexed by Charleston in 2005. (R. pp. 85-99).

On May 18, 2018, Charleston filed a notice of intent, summons and complaint in Millbrook III challenging an ordinance adopted by North Charleston (the “2018 Ordinance”) to amend or

¹ These actions are individually designated as Case Nos. 2018-CP-10-0846 (“Millbrook I”); 2018-CP-10-2131 (“Millbrook II”); and 2018-CP-10-2539 (“Millbrook III”). On December 19, 2018, the circuit court consolidated Millbrook I, Millbrook II, and Millbrook III for all purposes. (R. pp. 38-39).

clarify the property previously annexed by North Charleston by omitting territory annexed by Charleston in 2005. (R. pp. 105-117). Charleston alleged in Millbrook III that Charleston obtained prior jurisdiction over the Millbrook Parcel “by accepting the annexation petition, holding a public hearing, and giving first reading to the ordinance annexing the Millbrook Parcel into the City prior to North Charleston’s beginning the process of passing [the 2018 Ordinance].” (R. p. 114, ¶ 40). Charleston also alleged that the 2018 Ordinance could not “cure” the substantive defect regarding the legal description of the area purportedly annexed under the 2017 Ordinance. (R. p. 114, ¶¶ 38-39).

On October 4, 2018, Millbrook moved to dismiss Millbrook I and Millbrook III, arguing that Charleston lacked standing to challenge the annexations. (R. pp. 144-147). On October 24, 2018, the circuit court held a hearing on Millbrook’s motions and took them under advisement. (R. pp. 196-243).

On March 1, 2019, the circuit court entered an order granting Millbrook’s motion to dismiss (the “Order”). (R. pp. 1-18). Charleston received written notice of entry of the Order on March 4, 2019. (R. p. 182). On March 5, 2019, the circuit court refiled the same order (the “Refiled Order”), and Charleston received written notice of entry of the Refiled Order on March 6, 2019. (R. pp. 19-36, p. 182).

On March 14, 2019, Charleston served a notice of motion and motion to alter, amend, and reconsider the Order and the Refiled Order. (R. pp. 181-195). On May 1, 2019, the circuit court entered an order denying Charleston’s motion. (R. p. 37). Charleston received written notice of entry of the order denying reconsideration on May 2, 2019. (R. p. 314). On May 24, 2019, Charleston served a notice of appeal of the Order, the Refiled Order, and the order denying Charleston’s motion to alter, amend or reconsider. (R. pp. 314-317).

FACTS

The Millbrook Parcel consists of approximately 31 acres of real property located on South Carolina Highway 61, also known as Ashley River Road, in Charleston County, South Carolina. (R. pp. 44-45, ¶ 4, pp. 109-110, ¶ 4). In 1998, the General Assembly designated this portion of Highway 61, which dates back to colonial times, as a South Carolina Scenic Byway, subjecting it to the rules and regulations promulgated by the South Carolina Department of Transportation and the South Carolina Scenic Highways Committee for Scenic Byways pursuant to Sections 57-3-110 and 57-23-60. See S.C. Code Ann. § 57-23-230(A).

On May 10, 2005, Charleston adopted Ordinance No. 2005-093 (the “2005 Ordinance”) annexing the portion of the Millbrook Parcel lying within 100 feet of Highway 61. (R. p. 45, ¶ 9, p. 111, ¶ 14). There is no dispute that the 2005 Ordinance included the portion of the Millbrook Parcel lying within 100 feet of Highway 61. (R. p. 45, ¶ 5, p. 50, ¶ 5, p. 111, ¶ 14, pp. 119-20, ¶ 14, p. 141, ¶ 5). No party has ever challenged the validity of the 2005 Ordinance.

Charleston commenced the annexation of the remainder of the Millbrook Parcel on December 19, 2017, by accepting an annexation petition under the “75% Annexation Method” authorized by section 5-3-150(1) of the South Carolina Code; and by ordering the statutorily-required public hearing. See S.C. Code Ann. § 5-3-150(1)(6) (“not less than thirty days before acting on an annexation petition, the annexing municipality must give notice of a public hearing . . .”). (R. p. 45, ¶¶ 10-11, p. 111, ¶¶ 15-16).

On December 21, 2017, North Charleston gave first reading to the 2017 Ordinance to annex the Millbrook Parcel under the auspices of section 5-3-150(3) of the South Carolina Code, the “100% Annexation Method.” (R. p. 46, ¶ 14, p. 112, ¶ 19). On December 28, 2017, North Charleston adopted the 2017 Ordinance. (R. p. 46, ¶ 15, p. 112, ¶ 20). The 2017 Ordinance, which

is attached as Exhibit 1 to the Order, describes the property annexed as commencing in the middle of the Ashley River at the corporate limits of North Charleston, eventually extending as follows:

[I]n a generally southwesterly direction a distance of 1,928 feet along the westernmost property line of the parcel designated TMS 361-00-00-006 to Point C, which point is at the intersection of the southwesternmost corner of parcel designated TMS #301-00-00-006 [sic] with the northernmost right-of-way line of Ashley River Road; thence, in a generally southeasterly direction a distance of 733 feet along the southwesternmost property line of parcel designated TMS #361-00-00-006 which is also along the northernmost right-of-way of Ashley River Road to Point D

(R. pp. 12-15, pp. 303-306) (emphasis added). The description clearly includes 733 feet lying along the “northernmost right-of-way line of Ashley River Road,” and the exhibit attached to the 2017 Ordinance shows that the area to be annexed lies immediately adjacent to Ashley River Road. (R. pp. 304-305). As a result, the description includes the portion of the Millbrook Parcel lying within 100 feet of Highway 61, annexed by Charleston in 2005. (R. pp. 303-306).

On January 23, 2018, the City Council of Charleston held a public hearing on, and gave first reading to, the Charleston Ordinance, which included the annexation of the portion of the Millbrook Parcel lying outside Charleston’s then-existing corporate limits. (R. p. 46, ¶ 12, p. 111, ¶ 17). On April 10, 2018, City Council adopted the Charleston Ordinance. (R. p. 111, ¶ 18).

In the meantime, on March 15, 2018, North Charleston gave first reading to the 2018 Ordinance, purporting to amend or clarify the 2017 Ordinance by removing the portion of the Millbrook Parcel annexed by Charleston under the 2005 Ordinance. (R. pp. 307-309). On March 22, 2018, North Charleston adopted Ordinance No. 2018-017, i.e., the 2018 Ordinance. (R. p. 113, ¶ 37). The 2018 Ordinance, attached as Exhibit 2 to the Order, includes recitals based upon the following summary explanation, in pertinent part:

The City of North Charleston recently annexed Parcel TMS #361-00-00-006. The clearly expressed intent of the ordinance was to

annex only this parcel. Based upon then-existing Charleston County TMS mapping data the map and legal description described Parcel 361-00-00-006 as extending all the way to Ashley River Road. County TMS mapping data has recently been corrected to reflect the existence of a sub-parcel, 361-00-00-0061. This sub-parcel is a 100' deep strip of land along the side of Ashley River Road. Based on updated County records it appears that this sub-parcel was annexed into the City of Charleston in 2005. Obviously, it was North Charleston's intent to annex unincorporated parcel 361-00-00-006, not annex property already within the jurisdiction of any another City. The attached ordinance would amend Ordinance 2017-083 to make the boundaries consistent with this intent and consistent with the now corrected County data.

(R. p. 17) (emphasis added).

By the time North Charleston took these actions, Charleston had not only accepted the annexation petition for the Millbrook Parcel and ordered a public hearing, but had also held the required public hearing and given first reading to the Charleston Ordinance. (R. p. 114, ¶ 40).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In reviewing the dismissal of a claim for failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court.” Sloan Constr. Co. v. Southco Grassing, Inc., 377 S.C. 108, 112, 659 S.E.2d 158, 161 (2008). “A ruling on a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss must be based solely upon the allegations set forth on the face of the complaint and the motion cannot be sustained if facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case.” Toussaint v. Ham, 292 S.C. 415, 416, 357 S.E.2d 8, 9 (1987). “The question is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief.” Plyler v. Burns, 373 S.C. 637, 645, 647 S.E.2d 188, 192 (2007).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE SUPREME COURT OF SOUTH CAROLINA HAS DECLINED TO ADOPT THE PRIOR JURISDICTION DOCTRINE.

Before North Charleston gave first reading to either the 2017 Ordinance or the 2018 Ordinance, the City Council of Charleston had, in accordance with section 5-3-150(1) of the South Carolina Code, already accepted a petition to annex the portion of the Millbrook Parcel not annexed by Charleston in 2005 and ordered a public hearing on the matter. (R. p. 17, pp. 111-113, ¶¶ 15-16, 19, 37). Charleston pled these acts as entitling Charleston to complete the annexation without interference from North Charleston under the common law “prior jurisdiction doctrine,” also called the “prior pending proceedings rule.” (R. pp. 45-47, ¶¶ 5, 16, 19.b, pp. 114-115, ¶¶ 40, 46.a).

The circuit court disagreed, holding: “The Supreme Court of South Carolina has declined to adopt this rule as the law in this state, and this court likewise declines.” (R. pp. 28-29). This holding is erroneous, as the Supreme Court has not declined to adopt the prior jurisdiction doctrine. It merely found the doctrine was not applicable to the case then before it.

“The ‘prior pending proceedings rule’ provides that where two municipalities attempt to annex the same area at approximately the same time, the legal proceedings first instituted, if valid, have priority.” City of Columbia v. Town of Irmo, 316 S.C. 193, 196, 447 S.E.2d 855, 857 (1994) (emphasis added), citing 1 Antieau Municipal Corporation Law § 1A.16 (1993); 2 McQuillan Municipal Corporations § 7.22A (1966). The Supreme Court refused to address Irmo’s argument in favor of the doctrine because Irmo failed to commence a valid annexation proceeding before Columbia:

We decline to reach the issue of whether the ‘prior pending proceedings’ rule should be adopted by this Court Here, there

is no showing that Irmo commenced *valid legal* proceedings prior to the effective date of City's Ordinances 90-30 and 90-31.

Id. at 196, 447 S.E.2d at 857 (emphasis in original). At the very least, this erroneous reading of Irmo warrants reversal to consider whether and under what circumstances the prior jurisdiction doctrine should apply.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING CHARLESTON'S CLAIMS BECAUSE CHARLESTON HAD STANDING TO ASSERT THAT THE PRIOR JURISDICTION DOCTRINE APPLIES.

The issue of whether, and to what extent, the prior jurisdiction doctrine should be recognized in South Carolina is novel. "In a case raising a novel question of law, the appellate court is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the lower court." Madison v. Babcock Ctr., Inc., 371 S.C. 123, 134, 638 S.E.2d 650, 656 (2006). This Court should tackle the issue, for reasons of sound public policy.

"The rule that among separate equivalent proceedings relating to the same subject matter, that one which is prior in time is prior in jurisdiction to the exclusion of those subsequently instituted, applies, generally speaking, to and among proceedings for the municipal incorporation, annexation, or consolidation of a particular territory." 2 McQuillin, Municipal Corporations § 7.39 (3d ed. 2006). "In proceedings of this character, while the one first commenced is pending, jurisdiction to consider and determine others concerning the same territory is excluded." Id. "Thus, where two or more bodies or tribunals have concurrent jurisdiction over a subject matter, the one first acquiring jurisdiction may proceed, and subsequent purported assumptions of jurisdiction in the premises are a nullity." Id.

"This principle of the common law is based upon the general public policy of the promotion of orderly administration of government and justice." Id. "Thus, the first of two or more annexation proceedings prevails over those subsequently commenced relating to the same territory." Id. "The

jurisdictional priority based on priority in time ordinarily is determined by the time of commencement or initiation of the proceedings, and not by the time of completion, nor by another time or date.” Id. “The taking of the first mandatory public procedural step in the statutory process for incorporation or annexation of territory ordinarily fixes the date of the commencement of the proceedings, for the purpose of the rule as to jurisdictional priority.” Id.; see also Lincolnshire v. Highbaugh Realty Co., 278 S.W.2d 636, 637 (Ky. 1955) (“It seems to be the general rule that in the case of rivalry between two annexing municipalities the one that takes the first ‘public’ procedural step takes priority.”).

In City of Burlington v. Town of Elon College, 314 S.E.2d 534 (N.C. 1984), the Supreme Court of North Carolina applied the prior jurisdiction doctrine under facts practically identical to those in the present case. The City of Burlington had taken the “first mandatory public procedural step” to annex certain real property by adopting a resolution of its intent under the North Carolina procedures for involuntary annexations. Id. at 537. The Town of Elon College then commenced several voluntary annexations of some of the same territory. Id. Elon College concluded its annexations before Burlington. Id. at 536.

Under the prior jurisdiction doctrine, the Supreme Court of North Carolina concluded that Burlington had jurisdiction to complete its involuntary annexation without interference from Elon College. Id. at 537. The Court explained: “[T]he prior jurisdiction rule is the majority rule and is applied ‘universally’ in ‘conflicts between two municipalities attempting to assert jurisdiction over the same territory.’” Id. at 537, quoting Comment, Municipal Corporations: Prior Jurisdiction Rule, 7 W.F.L. Rev. 77, 79 (1970). The Court continued:

[I]n cases where one municipality institutes valid annexation proceedings first, that municipality should be given priority under the prior jurisdiction rule, and subsequent annexation proceedings, of whatever nature, are of no force and effect. We believe adherence

to the prior jurisdiction doctrine is not only consistent with the majority rule, but is in keeping with the spirit and intent of our annexation statutes.

Id. at 538.

“The prior jurisdiction rule applies where the proceedings are equivalent.” 2 McQuillin, Municipal Corporations § 7.39 (3d ed. 2006). In Burlington, the Court rejected Elon College’s argument that the prior jurisdiction doctrine should not apply because Burlington’s involuntary annexation and Elon College’s voluntary annexations were not “equivalent” proceedings:

For purposes of the prior jurisdiction rule, annexation proceedings, regardless of their nature, are ‘equivalent proceedings,’ and it is of no consequence which town or city the landowners prefer. In fact, it appears to be the very essence of the *involuntary* annexation procedures that the affected landowners have no choice, as long as the annexing body complies with the applicable statutes.

Id. at 538 (emphasis in original).

Courts and commentators overwhelmingly endorse the prior jurisdiction doctrine in the context of annexation litigation. And not without good reason. “Perhaps the most significant attribute of the prior jurisdiction rule is that it enhances the predictability and order of annexation proceedings.” Competitive Annexation Among Municipalities: North Carolina Adopts the Prior Jurisdiction Rule, 63 N.C.L. Rev. 1260, 1265 (Aug. 1985). “Because the prior jurisdiction rule looks to the time of commencement rather than to the time of completion of proceedings, it guarantees that the first annexation proceedings begun will not be undermined by subsequently initiated plans.” Id. at 1265-66. “Thus, the rule ensures predictability and eliminates the incentive for a rush to the finish line.” Id. at 1266.

The prior jurisdiction doctrine affords protection to a municipality taking the first public procedural step toward annexation. It ensures that municipal annexations result from thoughtful decisions, made by informed councils, after considering the impact of an annexation on the

municipality's comprehensive plan, existing facilities, and its residents. It promotes order in the workings of government. See 63 N.C.L. Rev. at 1267 (“Although none of the alternatives . . . is without drawbacks, the policy statements and the universal acceptance of the prior jurisdiction rule suggest widespread agreement that proceedings first begun are more likely to be well conceived than those subsequently begun.”).

To eschew the rule will invite competing municipalities to “race to the finish line.” Cf. Lincolnshire, 278 S.W.2d at 637 (“It is contended by the appellants that neither party has actually annexed the territory until all procedural steps toward that end have been taken, and, as a consequence, the municipality which gets there ‘firstest with the mostest’ should be the victor. But the true rule to apply appears to be to the contrary.”). “A rule declaring as the winner the first municipality to *complete* its proceedings would only encourage North Carolina municipalities to rush annexation proceedings in order to thwart the success of other proceedings begun earlier.” 63 N.C.L. Rev. at 1265 (emphasis in original).

Such a practice would discourage municipalities from investing the necessary time and resources to evaluate an annexation and would promote “jurisdiction shopping” by those seeking to obtain, and the government willing to give, maximum development rights. “Individuals are more likely to resist annexation because of personal grievances or fears about a neighboring municipality and to seek annexation by one municipality solely to prevent annexation by another” 63 N.C.L. Rev. at 1266. “In doing so individuals probably will not consider either the likely impact of annexation on an entire urban area or whether one municipality is better equipped than another to extend municipal service to an annexed area.” 63 N.C.L. Rev. at 1266-67.

Such a practice would also create a disincentive for municipalities to plan for adequate public facilities, increased population densities, and intensification of uses. See 63 N.C.L. Rev. at

1265 (“Such a rule should ensure that annexation proceedings are predictable and orderly and that the better conceived plan, which furthers the interests of the greatest number of persons in an urban area, prevails.”).

On the other hand, the prior jurisdiction doctrine is in keeping with the General Assembly’s mandate for comprehensive planning in the field of local government planning and land development, as set out in the South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act of 1994, codified in Chapter 29 of Title 6 of the South Carolina Code. See, e.g., S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-510 (instructing local planning commissions to “develop and maintain a planning process which will result in the systematic preparation and continual re-evaluation and updating of those elements considered critical, necessary, and desirable to guide the development and redevelopment of its area of jurisdiction,” based on “surveys and studies,” including “an inventory of existing conditions,” “a statement of needs and goals,” and “implementation strategies”).

As applied here, Charleston is entitled to assert protection under the prior jurisdiction doctrine because Charleston took the first mandatory public procedural step of accepting an annexation petition and calling for the statutorily required public hearing before North Charleston did anything. Cf. Sherman v. Reavis, 273 S.C. 542, 546, 257 S.E.2d 735, 737 (1979) (“An ordinance is legally pending when the governing body has resolved to consider a particular scheme of rezoning and has advertised to the public its intention to hold public hearings on the rezoning.”).

Charleston is also entitled to the protection of the rule because Charleston gave first reading and held a public hearing on its annexation of the remainder of the Millbrook Parcel prior to North Charleston commencing any *valid* legal proceedings to annex the same territory. See City of Columbia v. Town of Irmo, 316 S.C. 193, 196, 447 S.E.2d 855, 857 (1994) (“Here, there is no

showing that Irmo commenced *valid legal* proceedings prior to the effective date of City’s Ordinances 90-30 and 90-31.” (emphasis in original)); Bostick v. Beaufort, 307 S.C. 347, 350, 415 S.E.2d 389, 391 (1992) (characterizing irregularities in the description of the property to be annexed as a “substantive defect” that may not be corrected through a subsequent ordinance). As discussed *infra*, the 2018 Ordinance, passed after Charleston had accepted a petition to annex the remainder of the Millbrook Parcel, held a public hearing on the annexation, and given first reading to its annexation ordinance, could not cure the defects of the 2017 Ordinance.

The circuit court did not address how and when the prior jurisdiction rule should apply, having erroneously concluded that the Supreme Court had refused to adopt the rule. Charleston respectfully urges the adoption of the rule and its application to the facts of this case. At the very least, the circuit court’s order should be reversed and the matter remanded, either with instructions to consider the novel issues associated with applying the prior jurisdiction rule or with instructions clarifying when and to what extent the rule applies. The instructions should also direct the circuit court to consider whether any facts need to be developed further before rendering a final judgment on the issue. See McNeil v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr., 404 S.C. 186, 196, 743 S.E.2d 843, 849 (Ct. App. 2013) (“The trial court failed to consider whether this case posed a novel issue and whether the facts should have been developed further.”).

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT COMMITTED AN ERROR OF LAW IN DENYING STANDING TO CHARLESTON BASED ON AN ASSERTED INFRINGEMENT OF CHARLESTON’S PROPRIETARY INTERESTS AND STATUTORY RIGHTS.²

Charleston alleges that the 2017 and 2018 Ordinances infringe on its “proprietary interests or statutory rights” because the 2017 Ordinance included lands already in Charleston and because

²This Section III addresses Issues 3, 4, and 5 in the Statement of Issues on Appeal.

the 2018 Ordinance could not cure the substantive defect contained in the 2017 Ordinance. (R. pp. 45-47, ¶¶ 5, 16, 19, pp. 110-115, ¶¶ 5, 10, 11, 44, 46).

The circuit court limited standing to the State of South Carolina to contest 100% annexations, ignoring well-recognized precedent that parties such as Charleston have standing to challenge annexations infringing upon their proprietary interests or statutory rights. It is also axiomatic that a municipality has standing to challenge the annexation of property already lying within such municipality's corporate limits, and Charleston asserted a number of statutory rights that are infringed by the 2017 and 2018 Ordinances. The circuit court's ruling that Charleston lacked standing to assert a violation of these rights should therefore be reversed.

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT MISINTERPRETED THE GENERAL STANDING FRAMEWORK IN THE CONTEXT OF ANNEXATION CHALLENGES.

The circuit court held Charleston lacked standing to contest the 2017 and 2018 Ordinances because, unlike the statute authorizing the 75% Annexation Method and listing who may challenge such an annexation, the statute authorizing the 100% Annexation Method does not accord standing to specific parties. The circuit court relied on Quinn v. City of Columbia, 303 S.C. 405, 401 S.E.2d 165 (1991), in reaching this conclusion. (R. pp. 6-8). The circuit court misconstrued Quinn.

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