THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas
Hon. Eugene Griffith

Case No. 2018-CP-10-0846
Case No. 2018-CP-10-2131
Case No. 2018-CP-10-2539
Appeal No. 2019-000903

RECEIVED

FEB 13 2020

SC Court of Appeals

The City of Charleston,

Appellant

v.

City of North Charleston and Millbrook
Plantation, LLC,

Respondents.

AND

Millbrook Plantation, LLC

Plaintiff,

v.

City of Charleston

Defendant

AND

City of Charleston

Plaintiff

v.

City of North Charleston and Millbrook
Plantation, LLC,

Defendants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CITY OF NORTH CHARLESTON

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

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

Argument

The City of Charleston lost because it lacks standing. Only an annexed landowner or the South Carolina Attorney General may challenge a 100% method annexation. Vicary v. Town of Awendaw, 417 S.C. 631, 637-38 (SC App. 2016). Charleston is neither. It offers two basic arguments to try to avoid this elephant in the room:

- Charleston claims the Prior Pending Proceedings Rule let it beat North Charleston to the punch to annex Parcel 006. The problem? That rule has never been adopted and Charleston wasn't first!
- Charleston claims that North Charleston annexed two parcels (not one) including Charleston territory. The problem? North Charleston did not!

I. Prior Pending Proceedings Rule

A. Judge Griffith Correctly Ruled that Our Supreme Court Declined to Adopt the "Prior Pending Proceedings" Rule.

Charleston faults Judge Griffith for concluding the South Carolina Supreme Court "has declined to adopt this [Prior Proceedings] rule", but in this very appeal acknowledges the South Carolina Supreme Court saying *exactly that*. Pet. Brief at p. 7 (Quoting the Supreme Court as saying "We decline to reach the issue of whether the 'prior proceedings' rule should be adopted by this Court."⁴) While Charleston may wish for the rule to be adopted, Judge Griffith applied the law as it exists.

⁴ City of Columbia v. Town of Irmo, 316 SC 193, 196, 447 SE2d 855, 857 (SC 1994).

B. Charleston Was Not First in Line in Any Event⁵

Even were the Supreme Court interested in announcing a new rule, this would hardly be the case in which to do it. Charleston claims that it commenced its annexation of Parcel 006 prior to North Charleston. Just the opposite is true.

Charleston's dating argument, based upon the December 2017 receipt of a 75% petition, is hardly based on official "action." Charleston "receives" an annexation petition when a landowner decides to deliver it. This cannot be City "action." Charleston could not have truthfully denied having received the petition if it tried. Once delivered to Charleston it was "received" by Charleston whether Charleston wanted to accept it or not! Acknowledging delivery or agreeing to accept something for possible consideration later does nothing to change that or constitute "action" any more than a future "agreement to agree" can constitute a contract. The only official action Charleston could take was to vote up or down an ordinance in response to the submittal.

Focusing on Charleston's action (annexation ordinance) instead of focusing on a landowner's action (petition submittal) is completely consistent with Title 5 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. SC Code Ann. 5-7-260 tells us that a municipality may take "action" by "resolution" or "ordinance." S.C. Code Ann. 5-7-260 ("In matters other than those referred to in this section council may act either by ordinance or resolution.")(emphasis added.) Action on an annexation must taken by ordinance. See S.C. Code Ann. 5-3-150. The City of Charleston's own procedure for taking action on an ordinance requires that the ordinance "shall be introduced in

⁵ Given the 12(b)(6) setting before Judge Griffith he assumed Charleston's claim of being first in line to be correct. R.O.A. p. 8. However, under SCAR 220(c) an order may be affirmed for any ground appearing in the record. Under this authority North Charleston argues herein that Charleston's own description of the event (receipt of a petition (Pet. Brief, p. 7)) giving rise to its claimed first in line status is not sufficient even under a Prior Proceedings Rule.

writing and in the form required for final adoption” and that it must be read by council on two separate occasions. R.O.A. p.310. City of Charleston Ordinance 2-24. No statute creates a third way for city council “act” called “having a delivery dropped off”, “receiving the mail”, or “accepting for consideration of possible approval / disapproval later.”

Against this backdrop, Charleston cannot prevail based on “receipt.” Receipt is not “legal proceedings first instituted.” It may reflect action by a landowner, but it is not government “action” (i.e. a reading of an “ordinance” or “resolution”).

Agreeing to accept a document is no different. This is particularly true in this instance where Section 5-3-150’s requirement that an ordinance be passed means that “acceptance” of a petition expressly has no bearing on ultimate approval or rejection.⁶

Before Charleston ever even had a public hearing and gave first reading on its annexation ordinance, the City of North Charleston fully completed passage of its own earlier annexation. Considering the fact that our Supreme Court previously declined to adopt the Prior Proceedings rule, the fact pattern here is hardly the place for this Court to try to predict a reversal of prior Supreme Court guidance.

⁶ Other than perhaps signaling staff administratively to frame an ordinance for possible later consideration, the phrase “agreement to accept the petition” cannot have any legal significance in terms of annexation approval. Charleston City Council would clearly be free to vote down an annexation ordinance even after “agreeing to accept a petition”, making clear that accepting a petition has no legal significance at all. This conclusion is actually consistent with the City of Charleston’s own online guidance to property owners interested in annexation. On its own website Charleston unambiguously explains “How to Annex. To annex into the City of Charleston, your property must be: - approved by the City Council – Contiguous or ‘touching’ the city limits.” ROA p. 311. <https://www.charleston-sc.gov/839/Annexation-Eligibility> . Charleston lists only one step by Council (approval), not the two (i.e. “accept petition” *and* “approve ordinance”) it argues for this appeal.

II. North Charleston Did Not Annex Land Previously Annexed by Charleston.

North Charleston's original annexation ordinance was clear – it sought to annex the unincorporated land known as Parcel 006. That is exactly what it did. Charleston's argument is that North Charleston annexed both unincorporated Parcel 006 and the separate incorporated Parcel 006-1. However, North Charleston's ordinance listed only Parcel 006 as the parcel annexed. Parcel 006-1 was nowhere listed. Similarly, the accompanying annexation map showed Parcel 006 and nowhere listed a Parcel 006-1. Judge Griffith found that noteworthy. See ROA p. 10 (Order at Pg. 10 of 11.)

Admittedly, North Charleston's boundary description contained a factual error - it described the Parcel 006 boundary line as reaching Ashley River Road, and in that sense overlooked Parcel 006-1. However, the intent of North Charleston's council here was easy to discern. The Ordinance identified Parcel 006 by name and made no reference to Charleston's Parcel 006-1. That is unmistakable. Regarding the Ordinances' other description of Parcel 006, that description ended with the phrase "all distances being more or less." ROA p. 10 (Order of Judge Griffith, Pg. 10 of 11.) North Charleston Council told the world that if the boundaries of Parcel 006 might be slightly smaller described in the Ordinance, so be it. Here we are dealing with a roughly three percent (3%) annexation area disparity. That is hardly reversible error where the ordinance otherwise identified by the target parcel perfectly by name and expressly provided that boundary deviations might exist.

Charleston cannot reasonably fault North Charleston for the corrective ordinance. ROA p. 307 (Ord. 2018-17.) At the time of the initial ordinance North Charleston's paperwork reflected known public information. When updated information came to light, a potential for confusion arose. To alleviate any confusion North Charleston did the right thing – it updated its public

records to reflect updated County information. In so doing it expressly confirmed its original intent to annex only Parcel 006 (as stated in the original annexation) and disavowed any claim to lands previously annexed by Charleston under a different TMS number never mentioned in North Charleston's ordinance. It is hard to imagine what more could or should have been done. North Charleston does not claim land previously annexed by Charleston. Charleston cannot manufacture standing by pointing to a dispute that does not exist.

III. Charleston Has No Standing To Challenge This 100% Annexation.

Standing is required in order to pursue an annexation challenge. Vicary, 417 S.C. at 637-38. There are only two groups with standing to challenge a 100% annexation: (1) property owners of annexed land and (2) the Attorney General of South Carolina. Id.⁷ Charleston falls into neither category.⁸

It is uncontested that North Charleston annexed Parcel 006 by way of the 100% method. It is uncontested that Charleston is not the owner of Parcel 006. (That property is owned by Respondent Millbrook Plantation, LLC. who asked North Charleston to annex it.) It is uncontested that Charleston is not the South Carolina Attorney General. Finally, it is uncontested that the South Carolina Attorney General did not file an objection and is not a party to this action. Application

⁷ Vicary v. Town of Awendaw, 417 S.C. at 637-638 (“Our case law provides that ‘to challenge a 100% annexation, the challenger must assert an infringement of its own proprietary interests or statutory rights,’ and the State of South Carolina is the only non-statutory party which may challenge a municipal annexation. *See St. Andrews*, 349 S.C. at 604–05, 564 S.E.2d at 648.”)

⁸ Charleston argues in favor of a third category of standing for cases where one municipality claims to annex property already incorporated into another municipality. As discussed in the previous section, that did not occur in this case. Thus standing analysis for Charleston's further involvement in this challenge is governed by Vicary. There is no need to speculate about whether the Supreme Court would expand standing based on a scenario not before the Court in this case.

of Vicary to these facts is clear: Charleston lacks standing to challenge the annexation of main Parcel 006.

Conclusion

Charleston's appeal must be denied. It cannot invalidate North Charleston annexation of Parcel 006 by use of the Prior Proceedings Rule because (a) that rule is not the law of South Carolina and (b) Charleston was not first in any event. Charleston cannot invalidate North Charleston's action (or claim standing for further challenges) based upon North Charleston's annexation of Parcel 006-1 because North Charleston did not annex that Sub-parcel. No other standing for challenges exists and the appeal should be denied.